IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CAL	IFORNIA,)
) No. S201186
Plaintiff and Respondent,)) 2 Crim. B223181
v.)
DEWONE T. SMITH,) Los Angeles County) Case No. BA337647
Defendant and Appellant.)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT FILED

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles

SEP 1 3 2012

Honorable Jose I. Sandoval, Judge

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

MELANIE K. DORIAN California State Bar No. 197955 P.O. Box 5006 Glendale, California 91221-5006 Telephone: (818) 937-0434

Attorney for Appellant DEWONE T. SMITH

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was convicted, among others, of two counts of a violation of section 69. He requested a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of misdemeanor resisting a peace officer, in violation of section 148, subdivision (a)(1). The trial court agreed the instruction would be appropriate in some cases, but not in the instant situation.

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, all statutory references are to the Penal Code.

The Court of Appeal found that section 148, subdivision (a)(1) was not a lesser included offense of section 69, and that, regardless, the trial court committed no reversible error, because the evidence did not support guilt on the lesser offense. (*People v. Smith* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1051, 1057-1059.) The appellate court's ruling was erroneous.

Section 69 can be violated in two ways, each constituting a separate offense. Where the offense is one of resisting by force or violence (second type offense), as was here in count 2, section 148, subdivision (a)(1) is a lesser included offense. While there is seemingly a currently a split of authority on the issue, those appellate courts that have taken a contrary position reached their conclusions based on an attempt to deter type of offense only (first type offense). Therefore, their analysis was incomplete and incorrect, as was that of the appellate court here.

Although the lesser included offense instruction should have been given as to both counts 2 and 5, the error was arguably harmless as to count 5, because there was substantial evidence that appellant both attempted to deter the deputies and used actual and *unlawful* force. Count 2, on the other hand, was solely based on appellant's use of force, in response to *excessive force* utilized by the deputies. Therefore, not giving the instruction was not harmless, but reversible error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The prosecution charged appellant with possession of a weapon in jail (§ 4502, subd. (a); count 1), attempted deterring and resisting an executive officer (§ 69, subd. (a); counts 2, 5), and battery by gassing (§ 243.9, subd. (a); counts 3, 4, 6), with four prior strikes (§§ 667, subds. (b)-(i), 1170.12, subd. (a)). (1 C.T. pp. 71-75.) The six counts were based on four separate incidents.

Following a jury trial, appellant was convicted on all counts. (1 C.T. pp. 175-183; 4 R.T. pp. 2102-2104.) In a bifurcated trial, the court found that the prior convictions were qualifying strikes under the Three Strikes Law and denied appellant's *Romero*² motion to dismiss them. (1 C.T. p. 90; 2 C.T. pp. 374, 376; 2 R.T. pp. 981-984; 3 R.T. pp. 1202-1203; 4 R.T. pp. 2701-2704, 3001-3003.)

Accordingly, the court ordered appellant to serve 6 consecutive prison terms of 25 years to life as to each count, totaling 150 years to life. (2 C.T. pp. 376-381; 4 R.T. pp. 3010-3011.) On February 24, 2012, the Court of Appeal vacated appellant's sentence and remanded for resentencing, and otherwise affirmed the judgment. (*People v. Smith* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1051, 1054, 1070.) On May 9, 2012, this Court granted review, limited to the issue described above.

² People v. Superior Court (Romero) (1966) 13 Cal.4th 497.

STATEMENT OF FACTS³

April 21, 2008 Incident (Count 2)

On April 21, 2008, Los Angeles County Sheriff's Deputy Deloy Baker was assigned to module 1700 and 1750 at Men's Central Jail, as a prowl and security deputy for hundreds of inmates. (2 R.T. pp. 974-976; 3 R.T. p. 1232.) This had been his first and only assignment for the past three years. (2 R.T. p. 975.) Module 1700 housed high security or high profile individuals, known as "K10" inmates. (2 R.T. pp. 977, 979.)

The facility was in the process of declassifying appellant from K10 to general population. (2 R.T. pp. 978-979; 3 R.T. pp. 1233-1236.) The classification was done to ensure that inmates were properly housed for safety purposes. (2 R.T. p. 978.) Consistent with set procedures, Deputies Baker, Adolph Esqueda, Moreno, Farino, Rowland, and Lim began escorting appellant and 6 to 8 other declassified inmates, one by one, to the main open area in front of the control booth, at the entrance of the full module. (2 R.T. pp. 985-986, 988; 3 R.T. pp. 1204, 1233, 1237-1238, 1265, 1267-1268, 1270.) The inmates formed a line on the right side of the hallway, and the deputies stood on the opposite side and behind the inmates. (2 R.T. pp. 987-988.)

³ The Statement of Facts describes the two incidents that gave rise to counts 2 and 5 only, as they are relevant to this review.

The personal property of the inmates was placed in large bags in the center of the corridor. (2 R.T. p. 987; 3 R.T. p. 1205.) The deputies removed the inmates' handcuffs and instructed them to face the wall and to not speak, so their property could be searched without jeopardizing officer safety. (2 R.T. p. 986; 3 R.T. pp. 1207-1210, 1233-1234, 1237, 1268-1269.) The inmates were approximately 2 feet apart, and the bags containing their property were about 3 feet behind them. (3 R.T. pp. 1204-1205, 1237.) One deputy began conducting the search, while the others monitored the inmates. (3 R.T. pp. 1206-1207, 1237-1239.)

Appellant was somewhere toward the middle of the row. (3 R.T. p. 1206.) Once his handcuffs were taken off, appellant began turning to his left and looking in the direction of Baker and the other deputies. (3 R.T. pp. 1208, 1269.) He expressed concerned for his personal belongings, as he repeatedly asked the deputies not to lose his important legal documents. (3 R.T. pp. 1208, 1210, 1236, 1238, 1277.) Baker instructed appellant not to speak and to continue facing the wall, while appellant continued to turn from the wall and look in the deputies' direction. (3 R.T. pp. 1208-1211, 1239-1240, 1269, 1271.)

Following Baker's third instruction, appellant, once again, turned around and said, "don't lose any of my fucking paperwork." (3 R.T. pp. 1210, 1239-1240.) That is when Baker decided to move toward appellant.

(3 R.T. p. 1210.) He placed his hand on appellant, grabbed his left wrists with his left hand, placed his right hand on the center of his back and told him to face the wall. (3 R.T. pp. 1211-1212, 1240-1241, 1271-1272.) He then brought appellant's left hand behind his back in order to handcuff him. (3 R.T. p. 1212.)

After a few seconds, appellant became tense. (3 R.T. p. 1212.) He was breathing heavily, and his hands were clinching up. (3 R.T. pp. 1212, 1241.) Baker ordered appellant to place both of his hands behind his back, so that he could handcuff him. (3 R.T. p. 1212.) Appellant spun to his left, attempting to face Baker. (3 R.T. pp. 1212, 1272.) Baker "swung around and took [appellant] down." (3 R.T. pp. 1212, 1272, 1283.)

Baker had received training and had previous experience in restraining inmates and "taking someone to the ground." (3 R.T. pp. 1213, 1239.) Given that appellant was being uncooperative and becoming tense, Baker felt there was a possibility of an attack on himself and the deputy searching him. (3 R.T. p. 1213.) Therefore, he felt the best course of action was to handcuff appellant by taking him down to the ground. This was also generally done to reduce inmates' ability to draw weapons or injure others. (3 R.T. pp. 1213-1214.)

While Baker was attempting to take appellant down, he lost his footing due to appellant's size and fell to the ground along with appellant.

(3 R.T. pp. 1212, 1242, 1273.) Baker was 6'2" tall and weighed approximately 235 lbs. (3 R.T. p. 1242.) Appellant was not as tall as Baker was, but according to Baker, he was "thicker." (3 R.T. pp. 1242-1243.)

Appellant quickly jumped back up while Baker was still on his hands and knees, and struck Baker twice with his left hand on the right side of his face. (3 R.T. pp. 1214-1215, 1239, 1272-1273, 1283-1284.) He struck the deputy once in the ear, which affected his sense of balance and made his eyesight blurry, and once in the jaw. (3 R.T. pp. 1215-1216.) Baker described it as "a full force hit." (3 R.T. p. 1215.)

Eventually, Baker was able to stand up, and with the assistance of the other deputies, he wrestled appellant to the ground. (3 R.T. pp. 1216, 1243, 1273.) Appellant was thrashing his body from side to side, trying to break free and shouting "get the fuck off me, mother fuckers." (3 R.T. pp. 1216, 1243, 1278, 1284.) Baker continued to punch appellant in the face with his left hand, while attempting to hold him down with his right hand and telling him to stop fighting. (3 R.T. pp. 1216, 1256, 1259.) Esquedo also struck appellant in the midsection and told him, along with the other deputies, to stop fighting. (3 R.T. pp. 1273-1274, 1283-1284.) Deputy Lim then applied pepper spray several times into appellant's eyes. (3 R.T. pp. 1244, 1278, 1285.)

Appellant continued to kick and punch, attempting to stand up. (3 R.T. pp. 1216-1217, 1243, 1245-1248, 1254, 1256-1257, 1263-1264, 1279.) He was also screaming and complaining of pain to his face, ankle and head. (3 R.T. pp. 1246-1247, 1254.) In his report, Baker noted swelling over both eyes on appellant's face, although he testified that this was the result of being punched in the face, rather than the pepper spray. (3 R.T. pp. 1255-1256.)

Baker could not tell whether the kicking and punching was the result of the pepper spray, although both Baker and Esquedo admitted that kicking and trying to grab one's face was one of the usual reactions to the spray which was very painful. (3 R.T. pp. 1244-1253, 1257, 1260, 1263, 1278-1279, 1285.) In fact, the pepper spray caused some of the deputies to cough. (3 R.T. pp. 1260, 1263.)

After about 30 seconds to a minute, the deputies were able to subdue and handcuff appellant. (3 R.T. pp. 1216-1217, 1241, 1243, 1275-1276, 1279, 1285-1286, 1289, 1292.) In his original report, Baker wrote that appellant was still shouting out profanities. (3 R.T. pp. 1276, 1287-1289.) Later, at the request of the prosecuting attorney, he generated a supplemental report, specifying the precise words used by appellant, who had stated, "Fuck you Baker, I knocked your ass out, I got you." (3 R.T. pp. 1275-1277, 1289, 1291-1292.) Once handcuffed, appellant was escorted

about 8 feet away to a shower cell, then, taken to the medical clinic for treatment. (3 R.T. pp. 1231-1232.)

Baker testified that the decision to engage in the fight was made in a matter of seconds and was based on his training and experience. (3 R.T. pp. 1217-1218.) There was the danger of the other inmates joining in the fight or grabbing the deputies' keys to the control booth, which would have compromised the security of the jail. (3 R.T. pp. 1218-1220.) There was also the concern for the safety of the other deputies, who would have been outnumbered by the hundreds of inmates. (3 R.T. p. 1220.) He testified that the policy of the Sheriff's Department was to apply more force than that used by the inmate, in order to take control of the situation and to prevent injuries and limit altercations. (3 R.T. pp. 1261-1262.)

September 11, 2008 (Count 3-5)

Mark Tadrous had been a Los Angeles County Sheriff's Deputy for 3 years. (2 R.T. pp. 621-622, 644.) During that entire time, he had been assigned to the Twin Towers jail facility, which housed roughly 3,000 to 4,000 inmates on a daily basis. (2 R.T. pp. 637, 644-646.) Tadrous had received training in the use of nonlethal weapons and had prior experience as a member of an emergency response team ("ERT") at the jail. (2 R.T. pp. 645-646, 650, 659.)

Deputy Monty Gudino had been with the Sheriff's Department for 9 years. (3 R.T. pp. 1515-1516, 1573.) He had been assigned to Twin Towers the entire time, and was currently assigned to the training unit. (3 R.T. pp. 1516-1517, 1573.) Part of his training and experience included the proper use of force to overcome an inmate's resistance in the four distinct situations known as "cooperative," "resistive," "assaultive or high risk" and "deadly force." (3 R.T. p. 1516-1517.)

During the cooperative stage, a deputy would typically engage in a conversation with the inmate. (3 R.T. p. 1517.) He could also place his hands on the inmate, so long as no force was applied. Resistive occurred where a request was made or a command was issued, and the inmate refused. (3 R.T. p. 1518.) A deputy would then have several options, including using a firm grip, pepper or deep freeze spray, handcuffs and some other type of defensive tactics. (3 R.T. pp. 1518-1519.)

An assaultive situation was essentially a fight, permitting the use of nonlethal weapons. (3 R.T. p. 1520.) One example was pepper spray, which produced a number of physical reactions, including grabbing one's face and kicking, and the impact could last for hours. (3 R.T. pp. 1520-1522, 1573, 1575-1582.) It was not always effective, and to subdue an inmate, the person would need to be sprayed directly in the face at a close range. (3 R.T. pp. 1574, 1578, 1583, 1596.) Other examples were Taser, a multi-

launcher 40-millimeter which shot out OC spray, and stinger rounds which ejected rubber balls, all designed to disable the target. (3 R.T. pp. 1519-1520, 1522, 1524-1526, 1583-1584, 1594, 1596.)

On September 11, 2008, at approximately 7 a.m., Tadrous and Gudino were both on duty when, as part of an ERT, they were called to module 141, specifically to handcuff and detain appellant who was refusing to return to his cell and was required to appear in court. (2 R.T. pp. 622-625, 644, 650, 653, 659; 3 R.T. pp. 1528-1531.) Module 141 housed K10 inmates who were kept away from others for being violent and dangerous. (2 R.T. pp. 631, 637-638, 646-648; 3 R.T. pp. 1531, 1537.)

These inmates were not permitted to have any physical interaction with one another, and a solid wall was built in between the pods. (2 R.T. pp. 632, 638; 3 R.T. p. 1534.) They were fed through an open slot tray, and only one person at a time was allowed to step outside the cell to retrieve his food. (2 R.T. pp. 651-653, 666-667; 3 R.T. pp. 1552-1553.) There was also a control tower with tinted windows for monitoring the unit. (2 R.T. pp. 632, 648-649; 3 R.T. p. 1533.)

The deputies met in the ERT room, where they put on their protective gears and received their respective assignments. (2 R.T. p. 627; 3 R.T. pp. 1529-1530.) Gudino, along with several others were assigned to the 40-millimeter launcher, while Tardrous and another deputy were

assigned to shield. (2 R.T. pp. 625, 627, 660; 3 R.T. pp. 1529-1530, 1538, 1594.) Sergeant Chafen began briefing the deputies as to the situation. (2 R.T. pp. 625-626, 628-629, 653-654; 3 R.T. pp. 1529-1530.)

Appellant was standing outside his cell and yelling. (2 R.T. p. 627.) He was complaining that the deputies had been "playing games" with him, and he was refusing to go to court. (1 C.T. pp. 15-152; 2 R.T. p. 627.) Chafen was telling appellant that if he did not cooperate, the deputies would enter his cell, detain and handcuff him and "take [him] down to the hole." (1 C.T. p. 153; 2 R.T. pp. 627-628.) The "hole" was a single man cell with a bed, toilet and a sink, where inmates who had violated prison rules were placed. (2 R.T. pp. 655-656.) Deputy Arroyo was videotaping the exchange between the two. ⁴ (1 C.T. p. 153; 2 R.T. p. 628; 3 R.T. pp. 1529-1530.)

Eventually, Chafen advised appellant that if he did not go back inside, the deputies would use force against him. (1 C.T. p. 153.) Appellant yelled for the deputies to "come and get" him, stating, "But one thing you have to know – I'm going to be physical. I'm not going to – Somebody's going to get hurt. I'm not playin." (1 C.T. p. 153; 2 R.T. p. 630.) Tadrous and a few other deputies then grabbed their shields and lined up at the door.

⁴ The videotape and the transcript were marked as People's Exhibits 1 and 2, respectively, and the tape was played twice for the jury. (1 C.T. p. 108; 2 R.T. pp. 633-636; 3 R.T. pp. 1567-1572.) Both exhibits were admitted into evidence. (3 R.T. p. 1634.)

(2 R.T. pp. 625, 627, 629.) The shield was a 4-foot plastic piece with two handles on it, with the sole purpose of guarding against any object an inmate might throw at the deputies. (2 R.T. p. 625.)

Appellant was standing next to a table. (2 R.T. p. 629.) There was also a mattress in the cell, and one or two disposable plastic bowls on the table. (1 C.T. p. 154; 2 R.T. pp. 629, 657-659; 3 R.T. p. 1539.) Chafen advised the deputies of possible gassing, which was not an unusual occurrence at the jail. (2 R.T. pp. 658, 666; 3 R.T. p. 1539.) Tadrous also believed that the bowls might contain feces, although he could not see the contents from where he was standing. (2 R.T. p. 658.)

As Tadrous and the other deputies began moving toward appellant with their shields, appellant threw one of the bowls toward them, and the contents landed on the left sleeve of Tadrous's uniform, as well as his left arm and around the elbow, which were uncovered. (1 C.T. pp. 153-156; 2 R.T. pp. 638-639, 656, 658, 660-661, 664; 4 R.T. pp. 1815-1816.) It "smelled very bad," and Tadrous believed this was feces mixed with some type of brown yellowish liquid, possibly urine. (1 C.T. pp. 153-156; 2 R.T. pp. 639, 666.)

The contents also landed on Gudino, and in particular, on his right leg, chest area and arm. (3 R.T. pp. 1540-1541.) Gudino was not wearing forearm protection, and the feces touched his skin, specifically his forearm

and elbow, and part of his triceps. (3 R.T. p. 1541.) Later, as he was removing his uniform, he saw that the feces had leaked through his uniform and on his skin. This was the right hand part of his pants. (3 R.T. pp. 1572, 1586.) He also noticed fecal matter on his protective gear. (3 R.T. pp. 1591-1592.)

At this time, Gudino fired his 40-millimeter, which bounced off the mattress and did not strike appellant. (1 C.T. p. 155; 2 R.T. p. 640; 3 R.T. pp. 1541-1543, 1594.) He then fired a second time, but his weapon failed. (2 R.T. pp. 639-640; 3 R.T. pp. 1543, 1594-1595.) Next, the deputies used Taser, which, once again, did not strike appellant. (3 R.T. p. 1543.) Eventually, Gudino successfully fired another shot, which caused appellant to fall down on the ground. (1 C.T. pp. 154-156; 2 R.T. pp. 638-641, 661-662; 3 R.T. pp. 1544, 1570-1571, 1595.) Thereafter, appellant was handcuffed within three minutes. (1 C.T. p. 155; 2 R.T. pp. 661-662.)

Appellant was placed on a gurney and taken to the clinic for medical treatment. (1 C.T. pp. 155-156; 2 R.T. p. 663.) He continued to state that this would happen again and made incoherent statements. (1 C.T. pp. 155-157.) After appellant was subdued, Gudino experienced nausea as a result of the smell of the feces, and began coughing and gagging and eventually vomited. (3 R.T. pp. 1545, 1572, 1585.) He proceeded to the locker room, where he took a 45-minute shower. (3 R.T. pp. 1546, 1585.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DECLINED TO INSTRUCT ON SECTION 148, SUBDIVISION (A)(1), AS A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF SECTION 69, IN COUNT 2

The trial court declined to instruct on section 148, as the lesser included offense of resisting with force, in violation of section 69, as charged in count 2. This was reversible error, because there was substantial evidence from which the jury could have inferred that appellant had resisted the deputies, albeit with lawful force and in response to excessive force applied by the deputies.

A. Relevant Proceedings

During trial, the court recognized its potential sua sponte duty to instruct on the lesser included offense of section 148, subdivision (a)(1), with respect to both counts 2 and 5. (3 R.T. pp. 1299-1300, 1507, 1511-1513, 1636-1641.) The prosecution took the position that section 148 was not a lesser included offense of section 69, while appellant requested that the instruction be given. (1 C.T. pp. 137-149; 3 R.T. p. 1300; 4 R.T. pp. 1801-1802.)

Ultimately, the court declined to include the instruction, in either count 2 or 5, finding that there was not "substantial evidence" to warrant this. (1 C.T. pp. 170-172; 4 R.T. pp. 1808, 1874-1877.) At sentencing, the

court acknowledged that, in appropriate cases, section 148, subdivision (a)(1), could be a lesser included offense of section 69. (4 R.T. p. 3003.)

Nevertheless, the court opined that, based on the facts of the case, it had properly refused to give the instruction in both counts. (4 R.T. pp. 3003-3004.) The court cited *People v. Breverman* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, and later, *People v. Carrasco* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 978, in support of its conclusion. (4 R.T. pp. 1808, 3003-3004.)

B. General Principles

Courts have recognized a general obligation on the part of trial courts, even in the absence of a request, to instruct the jury on "general principles of law that are closely and openly connected to the facts and that are necessary for the jury's understanding of the case." (*People v. Carter* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1166, 1219; citing *People v. Montoya* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1027, 1047.) Trial courts must instruct the jury on defense theories that are "supported by substantial evidence." (*People v. Ponce* (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1380, 1386.)

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