## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

## THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

**DEWONE T. SMITH,** 

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S201186

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 1 4 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B223181 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA337647 Honorable Jose I. Sandoval, Judge Deputy

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### (1CT72.)

When a crime can be committed in more than one way, it is standard practice to allege in the conjunctive that it was committed every way. Such allegations do not require the prosecutor to prove that the defendant committed the crime in more than one way. (*In re Bushman* (1970) 1 Cal.3d 767, 775, disapproved on other grounds by *People v. Lent* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 481, 486, fn. 1; *People v. Marquez* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 1064, 1068 [conjunctive phrase "permanently and temporarily permitted proof of an intent either to permanently or temporarily deprive the victim of possession, attempted carjacking could be committed without also committing the crime of attempted grand theft auto".)

In *Bushman*, the complaint charged petitioner with "tumultuous and offensive conduct." (*In re Bushman*, *supra*, 1 Cal.3d at p. 774.) In

instructing the jury, the court said: "The defendant is charged in the Complaint to have maliciously disturbed the peace by tumultuous and offensive conduct. He may be found guilty of maliciously disturbing the peace if you find that he did in fact maliciously disturb that peace by tumultuous conduct or by offensive conduct alone. It is not necessary that you agree to the charge of both tumultuous and offensive conduct." (Ibid.) Bushman alleged that the court must find him guilty of both "tumultuous and offensive conduct." This Court held that "when a statute . . . lists several acts in the disjunctive, any one of which constitutes an offense, the complaint, in alleging more than one of such acts, should do so in the conjunctive to avoid uncertainty." (Id. at p. 775.) The Court noted that "[m]erely because the complaint is phrased in the conjunctive, however, does not prevent a trier of fact from convicting a defendant if the evidence proves only one of the alleged acts." (Ibid.) In fact, "[t]he jury could have found petitioner guilty of 'tumultuous conduct' if the evidence proved that his conduct was maliciously and willfully violent, endangering public safety and order. They might also have found him guilty of 'offensive conduct' if his malicious and willful actions incited others to violence, although his own conduct was not in itself violent." (*Ibid.*)

Here, the second amended information simply charged appellant with violating section 69 in the statute's terms. "When ... the accusatory pleading describes a crime in the statutory language, an offense is necessarily included in the greater offense when the greater offense cannot be committed without necessarily committing the lesser offense." (*People v. Marshall* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1, 38; *People v. Wolcott* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 92, 99.) Since, as pleaded, section 69 may be committed in a manner without necessarily committing the lesser offense, the accusatory pleading test fails. In other words, because the second amended information alleged appellant committed both forms of violating section 69, the statutory elements test

governs. Accordingly, section 148, subdivision (a)(1) was not a lesser included offense of section 69.

It is entirely irrelevant that the prosecutor may have elected to proceed with the second form of violating section 69 by presenting evidence and argument that appellant committed the offense by punching Deputy Baker in the face. (ABOM 30-32.) Established law requires that the determination as to whether a lesser offense is necessarily included must be based on the statutory elements or accusatory pleading, not the events that occur during trial. (*People v. Ortega* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 686, 698; *People v. Cheaves* (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 445, 454 ["evidence adduced at trial is not to be considered in determining whether one offense necessarily is included in another"].) As this Court explained in *Ortega*:

There are several practical reasons for not considering the evidence adduced at trial in determining whether one offense is necessarily included within another. Limiting consideration to the elements of the offenses and the language of the accusatory pleading informs a defendant, prior to trial, of what included offenses he or she must be prepared to defend against. If the foregoing determination were to be based upon the evidence adduced at trial, a defendant would not know for certain, until each party had rested its respective case, the full range of offenses of which the defendant might be convicted. Basing the determination of whether an offense is necessarily included within another offense solely upon the elements of the offenses and the language of the accusatory pleading promotes consistency in application of the rule precluding multiple convictions of necessarily included offenses, and eases the burden on both the trial courts and the reviewing courts in applying that rule. Basing this determination upon the evidence would require trial courts to consider whether the particular manner in which the charged offense allegedly was committed created a sua sponte duty to instruct that the defendant also may have committed some other offense. In order to determine whether the trial court proceeded correctly, a reviewing court, in turn, would be required to scour the record to determine which additional offenses are established by the evidence underlying the charged offenses, rather than to look simply to the elements of the offenses and the language of the accusatory pleading.

(People v. Ortega, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 698.)

Although this Court's Ortega decision is unmistakably clear that the decision of whether one offense is necessarily included in another must be made without regard to the presentation of evidence, appellant asserts that Manuel G., which predated Ortega and did not even address lesser included offense instructions, somehow allows consideration of the evidence presented to the jury in making the decision. (AOBM 28-29; see AOBM 31 [appellant seeks to rely on his assessment that "the evidence deduced at trial included the second type section 69 offense"].) Appellant's reliance on Manuel G. is misplaced. In Manuel G., this Court looked to the accusatory pleading, not the evidence, in deciding which type of section 69 offense was at issue. (See *In re Manuel G., supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 814 l"Because the minor is accused only of attempting by threats to deter or prevent an officer from performing a duty imposed by law, we are concerned here only with the first type of offense under section 69"].)1 Although this Court then proceeded to consider the evidence adduced at trial, it did so simply because the claim on appeal consisted of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence.

In short, this Court must look only to the elements of the offenses and the language of the accusatory pleading. As previously discussed, looking

The opinion had previously stated, "The Orange County District Attorney filed a petition to declare the minor a ward of the court (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 602), charging him with attempting by means of threats to deter and prevent an executive officer from performing a duty imposed by law, in violation of section 69." (*In re Manuel G., supra,* 16 Cal.4th at p. 811.) The opinion contains no indication that the charging document also alleged that the minor used force or violence to knowingly resist an officer (i.e., the second way of violating section 69).

only at the aforementioned information, appellant's claim must be rejected because section 148, subdivision (a)(1), was not necessarily included within the violation of section 69 charged in count 2.<sup>2</sup>

# C. In Any Event, The Evidence Failed To Support A Finding That Appellant Committed The Lesser Offense Without Also Committing The Charged Crime

As set forth above, a trial court need not give an instruction on a lesser included offense if the evidence fails to support a finding that the defendant committed the lesser offense without also committing the charged crime. (See *People v. Blair* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 686, 745.) Here, as the Court of Appeal properly found (Slip Opn. at pp. 8-9), there was no rational basis for the jury to conclude that appellant resisted arrest without the use of force.

Appellant had to be forcibly taken to the ground because he repeatedly refused to comply with Deputy Baker's orders, and became physical when Deputy Baker attempted to handcuff him. (3RT 1211, 1213, 1271-1272.) Appellant jumped up and struck Deputy Baker twice, once in the ear and once in the jaw, with his left hand. (3RT 1213-1216, 1273.)

With the assistance of other deputies, appellant was wrestled to the ground. Appellant said, "Get the fuck off me, motherfuckers." Deputy Lim then applied pepper spray to appellant's eyes. Appellant continued to kick and punch as he attempted to stand up. (3RT 1216-1217, 1243-1248, 1279.) Because appellant was thrashing around and trying to kick and punch the deputies, it took almost one minute for the deputies to subdue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although appellant was also convicted of resisting an officer in count 5, he only seeks relief as to count 2 in apparent recognition that any instructional error with respect to count 5 was harmless. (AOBM 2, 38.) Accordingly, this brief is limited to a discussion of count 2. Nevertheless, as count 5 was alleged in the same manner as count 2, misdemeanor resisting was not a lesser included offense on count 5 for the same reason it was not an included offense on count 2.

and handcuff appellant. (3RT 1216-1217, 1244, 1278.) After being subdued, appellant stated, "Fuck you Baker, I knocked your ass out, I got you." (3RT 1276.)

People v. Carrasco (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 978, 985 is analogous. In Carrasco, the court held that instruction on misdemeanor resisting was not required where, "if appellant resisted the officers at all, he did so forcefully, thereby ensuring no reasonable jury could have concluded he violated section 148, subdivision (a)(1) but not section 69." The court explained that

"[a]ppellant had to be physically taken to the ground . . . because he refused to comply with . . . repeated orders to remove his hand from his duffle bag. Appellant failed to comply with several officers' repeated orders to relax and [one officer's] orders to 'stop resisting.' He continued to struggle with [several officers]. [One officer] attempted to control appellant's torso, while three other detectives attempted to control appellant's arms. Appellant placed his hands and arms underneath his body, was 'yelling, kicking, [and] cussing,' and said he would 'kick Appellant continued to squirm and [the officers'] ass[es].' refused to give his right hand to [the officer trying to handcuff Appellant did not comply until after [an officer] him]. There was no contrary evidence administered pepper spray. disputing the officer's description of the struggle on the floor. Hence, the jury would have had no rational basis to conclude appellant wrestled with the officers, for which they convicted him of resisting or delaying an officer, but the struggle did not involve force or violence; accordingly, the trial court properly instructed the jury by not instructing it with section 148, subdivision (a) as a lesser included offense."

(*Id.* at pp. 985–986.)

Similarly, herein, appellant refused to comply with orders and became physical with Deputy Baker. "[T]he jury would have had no rational basis to conclude appellant wrestled with the officers for which they convicted him of resisting or delaying an officer, but the struggle did not involve force or violence . . . " (*People v. Carrasco*, *supra*, 163 Cal.App.4th at p.

986.) Accordingly, the trial court had no obligation to instruct on misdemeanor resisting even if it was a lesser included offense of the charged crime.

For his part, appellant contends that the jury could have convicted him of the lesser offense if it had concluded that, in hitting Deputy Baker, he was merely responding to the deputy's use of excessive and unlawful force. (ABOM 33-34.) But as the Court of Appeal properly recognized (Slip Opn. at p. 8), if the jury found that Deputy Baker was using unreasonable force, it would have had to acquit appellant for any ensuing resistance, not convict him of misdemeanor resisting. Indeed, an officer must be engaged in the lawful performance of his or her duty for conviction under either section 148, subdivision (a)(1) or under the second way of violating section 69. (*In re Manuel G., supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 816 ["for purposes of the offense set forth in the second part of section 69, the officers must have been acting lawfully when the defendant resisted arrest"]; *People v. Simons* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1100, 1108-1109; see CALCRIM No. 2671 ["an officer is not lawfully performing his or her duties"].)

Alternatively, appellant contends that the jury could have found that his "kicking and screaming while on the ground was the result of the pepper spray, not an attempt to resist." (AOBM 34.) This claim, however, must also be rejected. As previously discussed, appellant had already struck Deputy Baker twice with his left hand on the right side of his head, once in the ear, and once in the jaw. (3RT 1213-1216, 1273.) Thus, the crime was completed before pepper spray was even used. Moreover, any suggestion that appellant involuntarily kicked the deputies is belied by the fact that he later told Deputy Baker, "Fuck you Baker, I knocked your ass out, I got you." (3RT 1276.) In any event, to the extent appellant's kicking

was the result of pepper spray rather than an attempt to resist, such actions would *not* have supported a conviction for misdemeanor resisting.

Finally, appellant contends that his repeated refusal to face the wall could have constituted a misdemeanor resisting, but nothing more. (AOBM 34.) *If* appellant had only refused to face the wall, this contention may have had some merit. But all the evidence elicited at trial showed that the initial refusal was followed by a physical altercation in which appellant repeatedly struck Deputy Baker. In fact, appellant struck Deputy Baker twice with his left hand on the right side of his head. (3RT 1213-1216, 1273.) Dazed, Deputy Baker was finally able to stand up and he began fighting with appellant. With the assistance of other deputies, appellant was wrestled to the ground. (3RT 1216-1217, 1243-1248, 1279.) After the altercation, appellant proclaimed, "Fuck you Baker, I knocked your ass out, I got you." (3RT 1276.) Accordingly, appellant's conduct was much more egregious than the misdemeanor resisting that he suggests. This claim fails.

# D. Any Error In Failing To Instruct On Misdemeanor Resisting Was Harmless

In any event, it is not reasonably probable that appellant would have obtained a more favorable result if the jury had been instructed on misdemeanor resisting without the use of force or violence. (*People v. Breverman, supra,* 19 Cal.4th at pp. 177-178 [applying *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836, to erroneous failure to give lesser included offense instruction]) As discussed *ante*, there was overwhelming evidence that appellant used force or violence in his resistance, and the jury necessarily rejected any notion that the deputy acted unlawfully prior to appellant's resistance. (See 1CT 171 [CALCRIM No. 2671; 1CT 171; see also, *People v. Chatman* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 344, 392 ["Error in failing to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense is harmless when the jury necessarily decides the factual questions posed by the omitted instructions

adversely to defendant under other properly given instructions."].)

Appellant punched Deputy Baker in the head twice with such force and violence as to affect the deputy's balance and make his eyesight blurry.

(3RT 1213-1216, 1273.) In the immediate aftermath, appellant acknowledged his use of force against the deputy by stating, "Fuck you Baker, I knocked your ass out, I got you." (3RT 1276.) Under the circumstances, it is far from reasonably probable that the jury would have found that appellant resisted Deputy Baker without using force or violence. Any instructional error was therefore harmless.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Respondent respectfully requests that this Court find that section 148, subdivision (a)(1) is not a lesser included offense of section 69, that substantial evidence did not support an instruction on section 148, subdivision (a)(1), and that any error in failing to instruct was harmless.